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PER CURTAM,
Donderrious Williams was convicted of capital murder, as

that offense i1s defined in & 13A-5-40(a) (17}, Ala. Code 1975,
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and was sentenced to life impriscnment without the pogssibility
of parole. The Court of Criminal Appeals affirmed Williams's
conviction and sentence 1in an unpublished memcorandum.

Williams v. State {(No. CR-07-0456, June 13, 2008}, So. 3d

(Ala. Crim. App. 2008) (table}. Williams subsequently
petitioned this Court for a writ of certiorari, arguing that
the Court of Criminal Appeals erred by nct reversing his
conviction based on what Williams alleges was the trial
court's erroneous ruling on a motion to suppress statements
Williams had made after invcking his right to counsel. We
granted certicrari review to address whether the Court of
Criminal Appeals correctly held that Williams's request for
counsel during his custodial interrcgation was an ambiguous
assertion of his Fifth Amendment rights and, if not, whether

the police violated Edwards v. Arizona, 451 U.S. 477 (19281),

when they zreinitiated contact with Williams after he had
requested counsel,

Facts and Procedural History

On November 30, 2005, the Birmingham Police Department
received a telephone call regarding an unidentified male lying

in an alleyway. The male, later determined to be Bryan Lewis,
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had suffered a gunshot wound and was prcnounced dead at the
scene. Police officers guestioned Williams regarding Lewis's
killing on two occasions: on November 30, 2005, and December
14, 2005.

On November 30, 2005, when they first guestioned

Williams, officers advised Williams of his rights under
Miranda wv. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (19%6). Williams walved
those rights and agreed to talk with the officers. The
officers audiotaped and videotaped the interview. After

speaking with the cfficers for some time, Williams stated, "I
need a lawyer, man. I would talk to v'all if I had a lawvyer.
I promise.”" Williams then asked to make a telephone call; the
officers would not allow it and told him that he would be in
jail for at least two days. Williams stated that he had been
gquestioned in another city regarding a different crime and
that the officers there had allowed him to make a telephcne
call, The officers indicated +that the c¢rime under
investigation here was a more sericus crime.

The cfficers then explained to Williams what would happen
next 1in the investigation -- that they wcould take him home,

that they would investigate the crime, and that he would be
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assigned a lawyer. The officer then stated, "You already
asked for a lawyer, right?" fto which Williams replied that he
had not asked for a lawyer Dbut that he would "take" one.
Williams also stated that he did not do anything wrong. One
of the officers ejected the audiocassette tape that had been
recording the interview; however, the wvideotape of the
interview continued to record. One of the officers stated
that if Williams wanted to talk, Williams could reaffirm his
rights; otherwise, the officers could not talk to him anymore.
Williams responded Lthat he was talking. The cofficers told
Williams that he could get cut on bond., Williams asked i1if he
could telephone his girlfriend; he told the officers that if
he was allowed Lo telephone his girlfriend, he would tell the
truth. One of the officers allowed Williams fto use the
officer's cellular telephone to make a telephone call while
the officers left the interrcogation rocm. Shortly tLhereafter,
the officers returned. Williams asked who he was suspected of
murdering. The officers showed Williams a photcgraph of
Lewlis. The officers asked Williams if he was ready to talk.
Williams responded that he did not have anything to do with

the murder, and one of the officers asked Williams to tell
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what he knew. Williams stated that the officers were trying
to incriminate him, and wWilliams then stated either "If I had
a lawyer, if I had a lawyer, I'd tell you everything," or "If
I had a lawyer, 1If I Just had a lawyer, I'd tell vyou
everything,”" or "May I have a lawyer, if I had a lawver, I'd

tell you everything," "I'm sorry."' One of the officers told
Williams that there was no need Lo apologize. At that pcint,
the officers ended the interview and left the room.

Shortly thereafter, a police sergeant entered the
interview rcoom and told Williams that the sergeant needed tc
clarify whether Williams wanted tTo c¢ontinue talking tc the
police. The sergeant asked if Williams was willing to answer
a few questions cor if he was absolutely invoking his right to
counsel., Williams expressed his frustration with the cfficers
who had bheen gquestioning him previously and said that they
were tLrying to d1ncriminate him. The sergeant asked 1if

Williams was willing to answer a few more questions and told

him that he was free not answer any of the questions. The

'Williams's interview was videotaped, and it is not clear
what words Williams used regarding a lawyer at that point in
the 1nterrogation. A transcript was made of the police
interview, but 1t was not offered 1Into evidence, and 1t
appears from the record that the transcript refers to
Williams's request as being "inaudible."”

5
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sergeant told Williams that the detectives wanted to hear
Williams's story and that he would be released if the story
checked out. The sergeant told Williams that he had not been
charged with anything. Williams asked if the conversation had
to be ftape-recorded, and the sergeant told him that it did
not. The sergeant told Williams that the evidence indicated
that Williams had been invclved in Lewis's murder.
Subsequently, Williams made incriminating statements to the
sergeant.

The second interrogation occurred on December 14, 2005.
Detective Eric Torrence was one of the officers who had
originally questioned Williams, and he resumed the
interrogaticn on December 14, 2005, recording the interview.
Detective Torrence agaln informed Williams of his Miranda
rights, and Williams agreed to talk. Williams then made
incriminating statements to Lhe detective.

Before trial, Williams filed a motion to suppress the
statements he had made during the interrogations on November
30, 2005, and December 14, 2005. At that time, the State
indicated that it did not intend to offer the statements into

evidence. The trial court denied the motion but noted that if
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the State attemptLed to use the statements, Lhen Williams could
renew the motion. At trial, the State determined that it did
want to question one of the officers about the statements
Williams had made during the interrogations. Williams
objected. The trial c¢ourt held a hearing outside the presence
of the Jjury. Detective Torrence testified that after the
initial interrogation on November 30, 2005, members of
Williams's family had contacted him and stated that Williams
wanted to talk to the detective again, and Detective Torrence
then interrogated Williams on December 14, 2005. Detective
Torrence could not remember the names of the family members he
says contacted him. Detective Torrence stated that Williams
never "directly" stated that he wanted tc talk with him again.
After the hearing, the trial court ruled on Williams's meotion
Lo suppress:

"This 1is my holding on this particular motion to
3Uuppress. I have to agree to a certaln extent that
based on the way the defendant referred to an
attorney, I could see where the detectives are not
clear whether he is saying he wants an attorney or
he doesn't want an attocrney.

"He appeared to want an attorney initially even
though 1t was ambiguous. And then when Sergeant

Hardiman came in and tried to clear it up, it is not
clear to me that it got cleared up.
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"It 1s this. One thing led to another and they
were talking about the circumstances and got back
into a statement at a point to where it never was
clear whether his assertion of an attorney initially
was absolute or whether it was a mere reference.

"I am going Lo hold that any statement made up
until the defendant referred to an attorney being

present -- because part of it 1s listed on your
transcript as inaudibkle and vyou gcan hear a little
kit more in the wideco -- I am going to hold

evervthing up To that point as admisgsible,
everything in that 11/30, November 30, statement.

"After that i1is not admissible. When we get to
the December 14, 2005, statement, I am holding that
that is admissible. I am partially denying and
partially granting the motion to suppress.”

When the Jjury returned and Detective Torrence testified
regarding Williams's statements, Williams obkjected. After a
sidebar conference, Detective Torrence was allowed to testify.
The trial court later allowed Williams to preserve his
objection to the December 14, 2005, statement.
"THE COURT: D¢ vyou want to go ahead and state
for the record what vou said so that we can preserve
your argument?
"MR. MAY [defense counsel]l: Yes, sir, Your
Honor. Judge, at the sidebar the defense objected to
and renews our objecticen to the testimony of
Detective Torrence's interrogation/interview of
Donderrious Williams on December 14, 2005.
"Specifically, Judge, using as a polnt of

argument and reference the case of Minnick v.
Mississippi, [498 U.S. 146 (19%90})1. In that case,
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Judge -- and it 1s our argument that that is what we
have in this -- interrogation must cease and
officials may not [reinitiate] interrcgation without
counsel present, whether c¢r not the accused has
consulted with his attornevy.

"The Court in that case went on to hold that
when an accused has invoked his right to counsel
during present custodial interrogation, ... a wailver
of that right cannct be established by showing only
that he responded to further police-initiated
custodial interrogation, even if he has been advised
of his rights.

"Further, an accused who has reguested an
attorney, having expressed his desire to deal with
the police only through counsel, is not subject to
further interrogaticon by the authorities until
counsel had been made available to him unless the
accused himself initiates further communication,
exchanges, or conversation with the police.

"Judge, very briefly, what we will say in this
case isg that on November 30, 2005, when Mr. Williams
reqguested counsel, that all interrcogaticn at that
point should have by law stopped. And the fact that
he was read his Miranda rights any time subsequent
to that, prior to him receiving an attforney 1s not
permissible and that interrogaticn, that subsequent
interrogation, 1s not allowed."

Williams was convicted, and he appealed. The Court of
Criminal Appeals, in its unpublished memorandum affirming his
conviction, stated, with regard to the admissibility of the

statements, as follows:

"[Williams] made two separate equivocal
assertions regarding his right to counsel. In each
instance, ~he officers immediately stopped
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gquestioning him akbout the offense and sought to
clarify whether he was actually invoking his right
to counsel before continuing with further guestions
about the offense. In each 1nstance, [Williams]
appeared to indicate that he did not wish to speak
to an attorney and that he was willing to continue
to speak Lo the officers about the offense. Under
these circumstances, the trial court properly denied
[Williams's] motion tTo suppress the statement from
December 14, 2005, kecause 1t does not appear that
[Williams] actually invoked his right to counsel
during questioning on November 30, 2005.

"Moreover, even 1f [Williams] had invoked his
right to <¢ounsel on November 30, 2005, [Detective]
Torrence Lestified that he guestioned [Willlams] on
December 14, 200%, only after cone of [Williams's]
family members told him [Williams] wanted to talk to

him again. [Williams] did not dispute [Cetectlve]
Torrence's testimony. Because it appears that
[Williams] reinitiaeted c¢ontact with [Detective]
Torrence, Lthe trial court properly denied

[Williams's] motion to suppress the statement he
made to [Detective] Torrence on December 14, 2005."

Williams timely sought certiorari review of the Court of
Criminal Appeals' decision.

Digcussion

The Court of Criminal Appeals affirmed the trial court's
denial of Williams's motion Lo suppress his December 14, 2005,
statement because, it held, Williams never clearly invoked his
right to counsel during the November 30, 2005, interrcgation.
The Court of Criminal Appeals further held that even 1f

Williams had invoked his right to counsel on November 230,

10
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2005, the statements he made on December 14, 2005, should not
be suppressed because the statements were made after Williams
reinitiated contact with the police through a third party.
Williams argues Lthat the Ccurt of Criminal Appeals erred
in determining that his statements asserting his Fifth
Amendment right to counsel were ambiguous. Williams also
argues Lhat because he properly asserted his right toc cocunsel,

the police wviolated Edwards v. Arizona, supra, when they

reinitiated contact with him based on the request of a third
party, even though he had previously declined tec talk to the
police without an attorney present.

It is not necessary for this Court toc determine whether
Williams's request for an attorney cn November 30, 2005, was
uneguivocal, Even if we assume that Williams's reguest was
uneguivocal, Williams's argument that the police viclated

Edwards v. Arizona when they reinitiated contact with him is

dispecsitive of this case.

Holding of Edwards v. Arizona

In Edwards v. Arizona, supra, the suspect, Edwards, was

arrested on charges of robbery, burglary, and first-degree

murder. The arresting officer read Edwards his Miranda

11
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rights. Edwards stated that he understood Lhose rights and
that he was willing to answer gquestions regarding the charges.
Edwards told the police that he wanted to "make a deal" and
later stated that he wanted to speak to an attorney hefore
making a deal. The officer c¢eased guestioning Edwards, and
Edwards was taken to county jail. The next day, however, two
police detectives (colleagues of the arresting cfficer) came
to the jail and asked to speak with Edwards. Edwards refused
to talk with the detectives, but the guard told him that he
"had"™ to talk with them. The detectives informed Edwards of
his Miranda rights, and ZFEdwards agreed to talk to the
detectives. He gsubseguently incriminated himself during the
interrogation. Edwards's confession was admitted at trial,
and he was convicted on all the charges.
The Supreme Court in Edwards held:
"[Wlhen an accused has invcked his right to have
counsel present during custodial interrogation, a
valid waiver of that right cannot be established by
showing only that he responded to further police-
initiated custodial interrogation even 1f he has
been advised of his rights. We further hold that an
accused ... having expressed his desire to deal with
the police conly through counsel, is not subject to
further interrogaticon by the authorities until
counsel has been made available to him, unless the

accused himself initiates further communication,
exchanges, or conversations with the police.”

12
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451 U.5. at 484-85 (footnote omitted). In support cf its
decision, the Supreme Court c¢cited several <¢ases issued both
before and after Miranda that had established a rule to
protect suspects in police custody from being "badgered™ by
police officers into waiving their previously asserted right
to counsel.? "[This] Court has sgtrongly indicated that
additional safeguards are necessary when an accused asks for
counsel L..." 451 U.3. at 484, "[I1t is inconsistent with

Miranda and 1ts progeny for the authorities, at their

“The Supreme Court cited the following cases: Massiah v.

United States, 377 U.S. 201, 206 (19%4) (holding that a
defendant 1is "denied the basic protections of [the Sixth
Amendment] when there [i1is] used against him at his trial
evidence of his own incriminating words, which federal agents
had deliberately elicited from him after he had been indicted
and in the absence of his counsel”); Michigan v. Mosley, 423
U.sS. g6, 104 n. 10 (1275) (holding that the procedural
safeguards triggered by a reguest to remain silent and a
request for an attorney are distinguishable); Brewer v.

Williams, 420 U.S. 387 (1977) (hclding that a waiver of the
Sixth Amendment right to counsel could not be inferred from
the mere response by the accused to overt or more subtle forms
of interrogatlion or other efforts Lo elicit incriminating
information); Rhode Island wv. Innis, 446 U.S5. 291, 298
(1280) (holding that a suspect has an "undisputed right" under
Miranda to remaln silent and be free of interrogation "until
he has consulted with a lawyer"}; and Fare v. Michael C., 442
Uu.s. 707, 719 (1979) (referring to Miranda's "rigid rule that
an accused's request for an attorney is per se an invocation
of his IFifth Amendment rights, regquiring that all
interrogaticon cease").

13
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instance, to reinterrogate an accused in custody 1f he has
clearly asserted his right te counsel.™ 451 U.3. at 485.

The Supreme Court in Edwards made it clear that a suspect
may walve his previously asserted right to counsel and respond
to interrogetion. However, when an accused has invoked his
right tc counsel, a wvalid waiver of that right cannot be
established by showing only that the accused responded to
police-initiated interrogation after again being advised of
his Miranda rights. The Supreme Court held that, based on a
totality of the circumstances, Edwards's Fifth Amendment
rights were violated and his confession due to be suppressed
because Edwards had not been appointed counsel and the police
had initiated contact with Edwards after he had requested
counsel,

Supreme Court jurisprudence pre- and post-Edwards v. Arizona

Subsequent to Edwards, a plurality of the Court in Oregon

v. Bradshaw, 462 U.3., 1039 (1983), addressed what constituted,

under Edwards, "initiation" by the accused of conversaticn
with law enforcement. Questicns by Lhe accused regarding "the
routine incidents of the custodial relationship,” for example,

asking to use the bathroom cr the telephone, are not wvalid

14
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initiations by the accused. 462 U.S. at 1045. Instead, the

accused must "evincel[] a willingness and a desire for a
generalized discussion about the investigaticon." 462 U.S. at
1045-46.

In Arizona v. Roberscn, 486 U.3. 675 (1978), the Supremes

Court addressed whether the Fifth Amendment bars police-
initiated i1nterrogation in a case following an accused's
request for counsel in an investigation of an unrelated case.
Roberson was arrested on suspicion of burglary, and he
reguested counsel before answering guestlions. While he was
still in custody on the burglary charge, different cfficers
read Roberson his Miranda rights, interrogated him, and
obtained incriminating statements about a second unrelated
offense, The Supreme Court held that the presumption that a
suspect believes he is unable to proceed without counsel "does
not disappear simply because the pclice have apprcached the
suspect, still in custocdy, still without c¢ounsel, about a
separate investigation." 486 U.&. at 683. The Supreme Court
rejected the contention that the police officer’'s lack of

knowledge as to Rokerson's previous invocation of his Miranda

15
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rights wvitiated the prcotections afforded by the zrule of
Edwards:

"In addition to the fact that Edwards focuses on the
state of mind of the suspect and not of the police,
custodial interrogaticon must be conducted pursuant
to established procedures, and those procedures in
turn must enable an officer who proposes toc initiate
an interrogation Lo determine whether tLthe suspect
has previously requested counsel. ... [W]hether the
same or different law enforcement authorities are
involved in the second investligation, the same need
to determine whether the suspect has requested
counsel exists. The police department's failure to
honor that request cannct be justified by the lack
of diligence of a particular officer.”

Roberson, 486 U.5. at 687-88 (footnote omitted).

In North Caroline v. Butler, 441 U.S, 369 (1279), the

Supreme Court gquoted Miranda: "'Without proper safeguards the
process of in-custody interrogation of persons suspected cr
accused of ¢rime contains inherently compelling pressures
which work to undermine the individual's will to resist and to
compel him to speak where he would not otherwise do so
freely.'" 441 U.S5. at 274 (quoting Miranda, 384 U.S. at 467).
However, the Butler Court held that Miranda does not require
an express walver of the right to counsel. Butler had made a
statement that he wanted to talk with police but that he would

not sign anything. He then implicated himself. The Supreme

16
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Court held that Butler's inculpatory statements made during
his custodial interrogation witheout counsel were not
inadmissible simply because of the absence of an express
walver of the right to counsel.

"An express written or oral statement of waiver
of the right to remain silent or of the right to
counsel is usually strong proof of the wvalidity of
that waiver .... The courts must presgsume that a
defendant did not walve his rights; the
prosecution's burden is great; but in at least some
cases waiver can be c¢learly inferred from the
actions and words of Lhe perscon interrogated."”

441 U.S5., at 373,

In 8mith w. Illinois, 469 U.S. 91 (1984), the Supreme

Court stated that the rule in Edwards involves Lwo independent
inguiries:
"FFirst, courts must determine whether the accused
actually invoked his right to counsel, ... Second,
if the accused invoked his right to counsel, courts
may admit his responses to further gquestioning only
on a finding that he (a) initiated further
discussions with the police, and (b) knowingly and
intelligently waived the right he had invoked."”
469 U.5. at 95. The Smith Court further stated: "In the
absence of such & bright-line prohibition, the authorities
through 'bhadger|[ing]' or 'overreaching' -- explicit or subtle,

deliberate or unintenticonal -- might otherwise wear down the

accused or persuade him Lo ingcriminate himself nectwithstanding

17
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his earlier request for counsel's assistance." 469 U.S. at
98, In Smith, the police read Smith his Miranda rights and
asked 1f he understcocod his right to have c¢ounsel present
during the interrogation. Smith responded, "Uh, vyeah. I'd
like to do that." 469 U.3. at 93. The police cofficer then
finished reading Smith his rights and asked if Smith wanted to
talk Lo the officer without a lawyer present, to which Smith
answered, "Yeah and no, uh, I don't know what's what really."”
Id. Smith then agreed to talk to the police; he ultimately
confessed. After more questioning, Smith insisted that he
wanted to speak to & lawyer, and the interrogation ceased.
The Supreme Court held that Smith's statements were
inadmissible.

Later, in Minnick v, Migsissippi, 498 0.3, 14¢ (1990),

the Supreme Court addressed whether the rule in Edwards would
reqguire suppressicn of a confession when the pclice obtained
the confessicon during an interrcogation that occurred after the
accused had requested counsel but without counsel present.
Minnick had escaped from jail and murdered two pescple. He was
eventually apprehended and then guestioned by federal

officers. The guestioning ceased when Minnick regquested

18
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counsel. However, after Minnick had conferred with counsel,
the gquestioning resumed, without counsel presgent, and Minnick
confessed. Minnick challenged the admission of the
incriminating statement he had made to police after speaking
with his lawyer because, he argued, he had never waiwved his
Miranda rights. The Supreme Court held that any confession
given 1n response Lo police interrogaticon outside the presence
of counsel, once counsel has been reguested, may not be
admitted at trial unless the defendant himself had reinitiated
the communication with police.

"Edwards 15 ‘'desgsigned fto prevent police from
badgering a defendant into waiving his previously

asserted Miranda rights.' Michigan v. Harvey, 4854
Uu.s. 344, 350 (1990). See alseo 3mith v, Illinois,
469 U.S. 91, 98 (1984). The rule ensures that any

statement made in subsegquent interrogation i1s not
the result of coercive pressures. Edwards conserves
judicial resources which would otherwise be expended
in making difficult determinations of voluntariness,
and 1mplements the protections of Miranda in
practical and straightforward terms.

"The merit of the Edwards decision lies in the
clarity of 1ts command and the certainty of 1its
application. We have confirmed that the Edwards rule
provides ""clear and unegquivocal" guidelines tTo the
law enforcement profession.' Arizona v. Roberson,
486 U.S. o©'/5, 682 (1988). Cf. Moran v. Burbine, 475
Uu.s, 412, 425-4726 (1%86). Even before Edwards, we
noted that Miranda's 'relatively rigid reguirement
that interrcgaticn must c¢ease upon the accused's
request for an attorney ... has the virtue of

19
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informing police and prosecutors with specificity as
to what they may do 1n conducting custodial
interrogaticn, and of informing courts under what
circumstances statements obtained during such
interrogation are not admissible. This gain 1in
specificity, which benefits the accused and the
State alike, has been thought to outweigh the
burdens that the decision in Miranda imposes on law
enforcement agencies and the courts by reguiring the
suppression of trustworthy and highly prokative
evidence even though the confession might be

voluntary under traditional Fifth Amendment
analysis.' Fare v. Michael C., 442 U.S5. 707, 718
(1879). This pre-Edwards explanation applies as well
to Edwards and its progeny. Arizona v. Roberscon,

supra, 486 U.S5., at 681-682."
498 U.S., at 150-51. The Supreme Court went on to state that
it declined to remove an accused's protection from police-
initiated questioning based on the accused's 1sclated
consultaticns with counsel, who is absent when the
interrogation resumes. To that end, the Supreme Ccocurt stated:
"The exception to Edwards here proposed 1s
inconsistent with Edwards' purpose to protect the
suspect's right to have counsel present at custodial
interrogation. It 1s 1nceonsistent as well with

Miranda, where we specifically rejected respondent's
theory that the opportunity to consult with one's

attorney would substantially counteract fhe
compulsion created by custodial interrogation. We
noted in Miranda that '[elven preliminary advice

given to the accused by his own attorney can be
swiftly overcome by the secret interrcgation
process. Thus tThe need for c¢ounsel to protect the
Fifth Amendment privilege comprehends not merely a
right to consult with counsel prior to guestioning,
but also t¢o have c¢ounsel present during any

20
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gquestioning i1f Lhe defendant sc¢ desires.' 384 U.S.,
at 470 (citation omitted}.

"The exception proposed, furthermore, would
undermine the advantages flowing from Edwards'
'clear and unequivocal' character, Respondent
concedes that even after consultation with counsel,
a second reguest for counsel should reinstate the
Edwards preotection. We are invited by this
formulation to adopt a regime in which Edwards'
protection g¢ould pass 1in and out of existence
multiple times prior to arraignment, at which point
the same protection might reattach by virtue of our
Sixth Amendment Jurisprudence, see Michigan v.
Jackscon, 475 U.S. 625 (198¢). Vagaries of this sort
spread confusion through the justice system and lead
to a conseguent loss of respect for the underlying
constitutional principle.

"In addition, adopting the rule proposed would
leave far from certain the sort of consultation
reqguired to displace Edwards. Consultaticn is not
a precise concept, for it may encompass variations
from a telephone call to say that the attorney is en
route, to a hurried interchange betwesn the attLorney
and client in a detention facility corridor, to a
lengthy in-person conference Iin whic¢h the attorney
gives full and adequate advice respecting all
matters that might be covered in further
interrogations. And even with the necessary scope
of consultation settled, the officials in charge of
the case would have to confirm the cccurrence and,
possikly, the extent of consultaticn to determine
whether further interrogaticn is permissible. The
necessary inquiries could interfere with the
attorney-client privilege.

"Added to these difficulties in definition and
application of the proposed rule i1is our concern over
its conseqguence that the suspect whose counsel 1s
prompt would lose the protection cof Edwards, while
the one whose counsel 1s dilatory would not. There

21
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is more than irony to this result. There 1s a strong
possibility that 1t would distort the proper
conception of the attorney's duty to the c¢lient and
sebt us on a course at odds with what ought Lo be
effective representation.

"Both waiver of rights and admission of guilt
are consistent with the affirmation of individual
responsibility that is a principle of the criminal
justice gsystem. It does not detract from this
principle, however, to insist that neither
admissions nor waivers are effective unless there
are both particular and systemic assurances Lhabt the
coercive pressures of custody were not the inducing

cause, The Edwards rule sets forth a specific
standard to fulfill these purpocses, and we have
declined to confine 1t 1n other instances. See
Arizona v. Roberson, 486 U.S., ©67% (1888} . It would

detract from the efficacy of the rule to remcve 1ts
protections based on consultation with cocunsel.”

498 U.5. at 154-56.

In Davis v. United States, 512 U.3. 452 (1994), the

Supreme Court concluded that the rule in Edwards does not
apply when a suspect fails to unambigucusly ask focr a lawyer.
The Edwards zrule "'is designed t¢ prevent police from
badgering a defendant into waiving his previously asserted

Miranda rights.™™ 512 U.S. at 458 (guoting Michigan v. Harvevy,

494 U,.s, 344, 350 (1220)). The Davis Court stated:

"To recapitulate: We held in Miranda that a
suspect 1is entitled to the assistance of counsel
during custodial interrogation even though the
Constitution does not provide for such assistance.
We held in Edwards that if the suspect invokes the

272
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right tc¢ counsel at any time, ©Lhe police must
immediately cease guesticoning him until an attorney
is present. But we are unwilling to c¢create a third
layer of preophylaxis to prevent police questioning
when the suspect might want a lawyer. Unless the
suspect actually reguests an attcrney, gquestioning
may ccntinue.”

512 U.S5. at 462,

Jurisprudence from other jurisdictions addresgssing effect of
a third party's initiation, on behalf of an accused, of
further communication with the police after the accused has
invoked his Fifth Amendment right to have counsel present
during interrcgaticn

Although the Supreme Ccurt has nct addressed whether a
third party, on behalf of the accused, may initliate
communicaticon with the police after the accused has requested

counsel, other courts have. See, e.g., Van Hook v. Anderscn,

488 F.3d 411 (6th Cir. 2007) (holding that a suspect who has
invoked his right tc <¢ounsel <¢an indirectly initiate
discussions with the police through a third party so long as
the impetus for the reinitiation comes from the suspect);

Cwens v. Bowersox, 290 F.2d 960 (8th Cir. 2002) (holding

that, although defendant had reguested counsel, defendant
initiated contact with the pcolice because Lhe impetus forx
interrogation c¢ame from defendant through his mother even

though defendant did not contact the police himself and did
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not ask his mother Lo have police come to the jail); United

Statesg v. Michaud, 268 F.3d 728 (9th Cir. 2001) (holding that

police had the right to ask if the accused was reinitiating
communication after requesting counsel where the accused's
cell-mate told a deputy the accused wanted to talk); Whitehead
V. Cowan, 2623 F.3d 708 (7th Cir. 2001} (incriminating
statements made by defendant after he was persuaded to talk to
police hy an acquaintance who had wvisited defendant in jail
after defendant had reguested counsel were the not functional

equivalent of a police interrogation); Holman v. Kemna, 212

F.3d 413 (8th Cir. 2000) (holding that defendant 1initiated
contact with the police by asking his stepfather to have a
deputy come to the priscn to take his confessicn); United

States v. Gonzalez, 183 F.3d 1315 (11th Cir. 1899), overruled

on other grounds, United States v, Diaz, 248 F.3d 1056 (11th

Cir. 2001) (holding that defendant initilated contact with the
police through his wife following his invocation of his right

to counsel); United States v. Rodriguez, 993 F.2d 1170 (5th

Cir. 1993) (holding that statements were inadmissible when FBI
agent reinterrogated defendant after he requested counsel

based on codefendant's wvague statement that the other
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defendants wanted to talk with the police); United States wv.

Gaddy, 884 F.2d 1307 (11th Cir. 1990} (helding that the accused
initiated c¢contact with the police through an aunt); and

Harvell v. State, 275 Ga. 129, 562 S.E.2d 180 (2002) (holding

that pclice did not improperly reinitiate questioning of
defendant where defendant's mother told the police that her
son was willing tc make a statement and defendant verified
that he was).

Cne case in particular warrants a detailed discussion.

In Van Hook v. Anderson, supra, Van Hook went Lo & bar in Ohio

patronized by homosexual men, He met the victim, David Self,
at the bar, and the two went to Self's apartment. Self made
sexual advances to Van Hook, and Van Hook strangled Self to
unconsciousness. Van Hook then stabbed Self and killed him.
Van Hook alsc stole items from Self's apartment. Van Hook
made his way to Florida, where he was arrested twc months
later by local vpolice. The police read him his Miranda
rights. Although he initially agreed to talk with police, Van
Hook later told police, "[M]Jaybe I should have an attorney
present.” 488 F.3d at 414, The officers understood this to

be a request for counsel and ceased guestioning him about
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Self's murder. Later that day, an Ohio police officer came Lo
Florida to facilitate Van Hook's extraditicn and
transportation back to Ohio. Van Hook had not vyet been
provided with counsel. After talking with Van Hook's mother,
the Ohio officer believed that Van Hook might want to talk to
police about the murder.

At this pecint, counsel had not yel been appointed for Van
Hook, Upon first engaging Van Hook, the officer discussed
extradition with Van Hook and confirmed that Van Hook wanted
to waive extradition. The officer told Van Hook that he had
talked to Van Hook's mother and that she had said that Van
Hook wanted to speak with the police. Van Hock stated that he
had talked to his mother and that she wanted him to tell the
truth and that he wanted to make a statement. Van Hcook was
again read his Mirancda rights, and he waived them, giving a
full and graphic confessicn. Van Hook was charged with murderzx
and aggravated robbery. The Ohic¢ trial c<court admitted his
confession, and Van Hook was convicted. On appeal, the Ohic
Supreme Court affirmed his convicticn, and the United States
Supreme Court denied certicrari review,. Van Hook filed a

petition for a writ of habeas corpus in the federal district
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court and was unsuccessiul. 2 panel of the United States
Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuilt reversed the district
court's decision, holding that the Fifth Amendment does not
allow a suspect to 1nitiate communications with the police
through a third party. On rehearing en bkanc¢, the United
States Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit wvacated the
panel's holding and in an 8-7 decision affirmed the district
court's decision.

The eight-member majority opinion in Van Hock ultimately
held that a suspect may initiate further discussions with the
police thrcugh a third party without wviolating Edwards.

"Given the realities of the custodial relaticnship,

it 1s dnevitable that the police will sometimes

receive information from a suspect ©or a third party
which might evince a willingness and a desire to

talk by the suspect. ... In this type of situation,
the police may 'ingquire whether [the suspect] wasg
re-initiating communicaticn.’ [United States v.]

Michaud, 268 F.3d [728] 735-36 [(9th Cir. 2001)]."
488 F.3d at 428.

Van Hecok had argued that under Edwards the accused

"himself" must initiate discussions with the police. Van
Hook, 488 [F.3d at 417. The majority rejected Van Hook's
argument, stating that "[L]here is no sound justification for

reading the statement from Edwards that tThe suspect 'himself'
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must initiate a discussion to Ilmply the suspect, and cnly the
suspect, can inform the police he wants to talk." Id. The
majority reasoned that the issue of third-party communications
was simply not before the United States Supreme Court i1in
Edwards.

The majority in Van Hock, in determining how the Fdwards
rule applied to third-party communications with the police

regarding an accused's desire to initiate contact, addressed

the standard for determining when an accused "initiates"
discussion with the police. Quoting United States v. Whalev,
13 #.3d 963, 967 (6th Cir. 1984}, the court stated: "'[A]ln

Edwards initiation occurs when, without influence by the
authorities, the suspect shows a willingness and a desire to
talk generally about his c¢ase." The Van Hook court determined
that there is "nothing inherent in 'showl[ing] a willingness

and a desire' that restricts 1t to dilirect communications

only." 488 F.3d at 418, "Whether the communication is direct
or indirect is immaterial -- what is important is the impetus
for discussion come from the suspect himself."™ Id.

The majority in Van Hook acknowledged the protections

afforded by Miranda and Edwards and that the purpose behind
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those cases was to prevent "'government officials from using
the coercive nature of confinement Lo extract confessions that
would not be given in an unrestrained environment.'"™ 488 F.3d

at 420 (guoting Arizona v. Mauro, 481 U.5. 520, 529-30

(1987)}). The Van Hook court stated: "The Constitution ¢learly
forbids officials from using their 'power of the sword' to
coerce a suspect into making self-incriminating statements; 1t
provides no similar protection against third-party cajoling,
pleading, or threatening." 488 F.3d at 421.

"With third-party communications, the police are
still prohibited from reinitiating questicning, and
the impetus for reinitiaticn must still come from
the suspect. The virtue of specifically identifying
rights and duties is preserved: 'police and
prosecutors' still know 'what they may do in
conducting custodial interrcgation' under Edwards --
interrogate a suspect unless and until the suspect
asks for a lawyer, and then not interrogate the
suspect unless the suspect initliates a discussion

{and waives the right to counsel}; and 'courts'
still know ‘'under what c¢lrcumstances statements
obtained during such interrcogation are not
admigsible' -- when the discussions are initiated by

police., These players must simply bear in mind what
is grasped by common sense and what has been the
consistent rule of the post-Edwards case law --
initiation <can be communicated directly by the
suspect or indirectly by the suspect through a third
party."”

488 F.3d at 422.
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Recognizing tThat whether a suspect has reinitiated a

discussion with police can be a difficult question,
Hook court explained 1its evaluation of a third

reinitiaticon of discusgssion on the suspect's behalf:

the Van

party's

"While a suspect's initiation might lead to a

valid waiver of the right tc counsel, 1t 1s not
itself sufficient. Before the police can actually
begin to interrogate a suspect after he has

initiated, they must ensure that the suspsct

1s

knowingly and intelligently waiving the right to

counsel under the totality of the ¢ircumstances.

It is 'wrong' to '"think [ ] that an "initiation"”

of

a conversation or discussion by an accused not only
satisfied the Edwards rule, but ex proprio vigore

sufficed to show a waiver of Lhe previously asserted

right to counsel. The inguiries are separate, and
clarity of application is not gained by melding them
together.' [Oregon v.] Bradshaw, 462 U.S. [1038]
1045, 103 S5.Ct. 2830 [(1983)] (plurality). Simply

put, nothing 1in our decision today permits

the

police to begin interrcgating a criminal suspect
simply by learning from a third party that the
suspect 1gs willing to waive fthe previously invoked
right to counsel. Nor do we hold that a third party

has the authority to somehow 'bring[] about the
walver of that right,"' ... or otherwise 'rescindl[]
thle] request' for ccunsel .... When tLhe police

receive information that a suspect wants to talk;
when there is a sufficient kasis for believing its
validity; and when the police confirm with the

suspect the wvalidity of that information,

we

conclude that the suspect has adeguately evinced a
willingness and a desire to talk with them. Whether
the suspect knowingly and intelligently waives his

right to counsel is a separate gquestion ...."
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488 F.3d at 424-25. The Van Hoock court held that the facts
supported a conclusion that Van Hook did initiate a discussiocn
with the police and that the trial court was correct in

denying habeas relief on the claim that Van Hook's statement

should have been suppressed. "The Constitution proctects a
suspect from official ccercion -- 1t does not protect a
guspect from himself or his mother." 488 F.3d at 428.

In hisg dissent in Van Hook, Judge Cole wrote that the
majority had departed from the Supreme Court's Jjurisprudence
on custodial interrogation. "[T]lhe c¢oercive setting of
custodial interrogaticn is ready-made for the infringement,
whether intentional or inadvertent, of constitutional
protections, such that suspects must be plainly advised of
their rights so they may act on them." 488 F.3d at 430. In
particular, he noted fthat throughcocut the Supreme Court's
jurisprudence the Court has 1insisted that the "relationship
between a c<¢riminal suspect and his official interrcgator be
governed by 'bright-line' rules that precisely spell ocut the
rights and duties of both parties.”™ 488 F.3d at 430.

"To hold as the majority does today, that a

suspect may re-initiate dInterrogation through a

third party, contravenes the reasoning of the
Supreme Court's custodial-interrcocgation
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jurisprudence by inviting the very uncertainty and

complexity into the circumstances surrounding a

suspect's waiver of his rights that the Court has

sought to banish. This uncertainty and complexity
ennsnares both the suspect and the law-enforcement
officers in charge of his case."”

488 F.3d at 432.

Judge Cole questioned why a suspect would communicate
indirectly with the police through a third party when the
suspect could do so directly. He also set out several
examples of the problems with third-party communications,
including the possikility that the third party misinterpreted
the suspect's words or that a third party may be colcored by
his or her own view of what is 1in Lhe suspect's best interest.
Judge Cole alsc noted an asymmetry in the majority opinion: a
suspect cannot invoke his right to counsel through a third
party, althoucgh the third party may "nonstheless play a role
in bringing akout the waiver of that right." 488 F.3d at 435,
Judge Cole also disagreed with the majority's heclding that the
facts supported the proposition that Van Hook 1nitlated
communicaticn with the police through his mother.

Although Judge Cole's dissent raises wvalid points, we

agree with the majority opinion in Van Hook that under Edwards

an accused can 1nitiate further interrogation through a third
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party. We recognize that Edwards and the Supreme Court
decisions both pre- and post-Edwards establishaed a bright-1ine
rule preventing police from reinitiating contact with an
accused; however, Lhose cases alsc recognized that an accused
can later decide to reinitiate communication. Edwards was not
concerned with the channels or means of communicaticn, but
with whether the accused himself reinitiated interrcgation.
With third-party <ommunications, the police are still
prohibited from reinitiating guestioning, and the impetus for
reinitiation must still come from the accused.

Conclusion

Assuming that Williams's reqguest for counsel on November
30, 2005, was uneguivocal, we disagree with Williams's
argument that the police wviolated Edwards when they
reinitiated contact with him on December 14, 2005,
Accordingly, the Jjudgment of the Court of Criminal Appeals is
affirmed.

AFFIRMED,.

Woodall, Stuart, Smith, and Parker, JJ., concur.

Bolin, J., concurs specially,

Cobb, C.J., and Lyons, J., concur in the result.
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Murdock, J., dissents.

Shaw, J., recuses himself.*

*Justice Shaw was a member o¢f the Court of Criminal
Appreals when that court considered this case.
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BOLIN, Justice (concurring specially).
I &agree with all aspects of the majority opinion. I

write specially to note that the majority in Van Hook wv.

Anderson, 488 F.3d 411 {(6th Cir. 2007}, was concerned that the
defendant be the person responsible for reinitiating contact
with the pclice, even 1f that reinitiaticn came through a
third party. With that in mind, the Van Hook court stated
that a suspect initiates further contact with the police
through a third party "[w]lhen the police receive informaticn
that a suspect wants to talk; when there 1s a sufficient basis
for believing 1ts validity; and when the police confirm with
the suspect the wvalidity of that information." 488 F.3d at
424-25. I agree that third-party communicationsg must meet
this standard.

In the present c¢asze, however, the record would not
support a finding that Williams reinitiated further contact
with police after he requested counsel on November 30, 2005.
Detective Torrence testified that some of Williams's family
members contacted him and informed him that Williams had told
them that he wanted to talk to the authorities again.

Detective Torrence could not remember the family members’
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names. Nothing in Detective Tcorrence's testimony indicates a

sufficient kasis for believing the walidity of the family

members' statements regarding Williams's desire and
willingness to Lalk Lo the police again. During the December
14, 2005, custodial interview, nothing indicates that

Detective Torrence was reinitiating guestioning of Williams
based on family members' information that Williams wanted Lo
talk with police again after he asserted his right tc have
counsel present. In other words, there is nothing to show
that Detective Torrence confirmed with Williams that he had
asked family members to contact the police on his behalf in
order to reinitiate interrogation.

I recognize that Detective Torrence read Williamgs his
Miranda rights before beginning the interrogation on December
14, 2005, However, a valid waiver of the right to counsel
cannot ke established by showing only that the accused
responded to police-initiated interrogation after being again

advised of his Mirancda rights. Edwards v. Arizona, 451 U.S.

477, 484 (1981) . I note that in 1ts unpublished memcrandum,
the Court of Criminal Appeals states that Williams did not

dispute Detective Torrence's testimony regarding the
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reinitiaticn of police interrogation. The burden is on the
prosecution to show that the accused 1initiated further
communications, exchanges, or conversations with the police
and That the accused wvoluntarily and knowingly waived his
previcusly asserted right to have counsel present during

interrogation. Oregon v. Bradshaw, 462 U.S. 1039 (1883).

In Robinson v. State, 6%8 So. 2d 1160 (Ala. Crim. App.

19%6), Robinson was picked up ky peclice for guestioning in a
robbery. Two other suspects were also picked up and taken to
police headquarters. During questioning, Rcbinson asserted
his right to¢ c<ounsel. However, the next day he was again
gquestioned by the police and subsequently confessed, and his
confession was admitted into evidence. On appeal, Rokinscn
argued that his confession should be suppressed because, he
argued, tThe prosecution did not satisfy its burden of showing
that he had initiated contact or communication with the police
after he had made & reguest for c¢ounsel. In addressing the
prosecution's burden, the Court of Criminal Appeals stated:
"The facts show that during the filzrst
interrogaticn of [Robinson], which occurred on
November 5, 1992, he made a request for counsel.
Specifically, [Robkinson] told Detective Mike Wallace

that he did not want to answer any more guestions
until he had an attorney present. This statement was
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sufficient to be considered a clear and unequivocal
reqguest for counsel. See Davis v. United States, 512
U.s. 452, 114 s.Ct. 2350, 12% L.Ed.2d 362 (19%4);

[Arizona v.] Roberson, (486 U.S. €75, 108 s5.CtL.
2083, 100 L.Ed.2d 704 (1988)]. The investigating
officer honored this request and immediately
terminated gquestioning. However, on November 6,
1952, J[Robinson] made a confession, 1in which he
admitted to participating in the bank robbery. No
attorney was present when [Rckinson] made this

confession,

"Because [Rokinson] had requested counsel and
because his confession was given after this request,
the presecution had the bhurden of proving that
[Roebinson] initlated the further contact and that he
voluntarily and knowingly waived his previously
asserted right to be represented by counsel. The
only testimony Lthat supports the contention that
[Robinson] initiated further contact was given by
Detective Fisher, who stated that he 'didn't go and
talk to [Robinson] because somecne told me that
[Robinson] -- someone in the Jjail, and I'm not
really sure, honestly, 1I'm not -- that [Robinson]
requested to talk Lo me.' Acccrding toc Fisher, this
incident happened while he was guestioning [a
codefendant]. [Rokinson], hcowever, testified that
he did not ask to speak to any detective after he
had regquested an attorney and that he gave his
confegsion only after he was brought to¢ Fisher in
the interrcgation room.

"Upon these facts, we are ceompelled to agree
with [Rokinscn] that the prosecution did not satisfy
its burden of proving that he initiated the contact
with the investigating officers on November 6, 1992,
after having asserted his right to counsel the
preceding day. The only evidence that [Reobinson]
initiated the November 6 meeting with the
investigators was the hearsay testimony cf Detective
Fisher. In determining whether the prosecution has
satisfied its burden, & court should 'indulge every
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reasonable presumption against walver of fundamental
constitutional rights' and "doubts [concerning
whether there was a wvalid waiver] must be resolved
in favor of protecting the constitutional claim.'
[Michigan wv.] Jackson, 475 U.S. [&25,] 633, 106
S.Ct., [1404,]1 1409 [(1986)7. Pursuant tc¢ these
principles, we must find that hearsay testimony,
alone, is insufficient to satisfy the state's burden
in this case. Therefore, we hold that the trial
court erred in overruling [Rcockinson's] meotion to
suppress his confession,"’

698 So. 2d at 1164.
In conclusion, I note that although T bkelieve that the

police did not viclate Edwards v. Arizona, I believe that,

under the facts of this case, the State would not have met 1ts
burden under Van Hook of showing that Williams reinitiated
contact or communication with the police after he had made a
reqguest for counsel. However, Williams's conly argument 1is
that a third party cannot reinitiate contact with police on
behalf of a defendant. Therefore, the issue whether a third
party's statement regarding reinitiaticon was rellable was not

before the Court ¢f Criminal Appeals.

“In Robinson, supra, no argument was made regarding a
third party's reinitiating contact with the police on behalf
of the accused.
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MURDOCK, Justice (dissenting).

As it relates to the facts of this case, Justice Beolin's
special writing raises several serious concerns. In my view,
these CONCerns are well stated and, more importantly,
meritcrious. Unlike Justice Bolin, however, I do not find it
necessary to decide how to react to these concerns in this
particular case. This is so because I am persuaded by what
the main opinion, itself, concedes to be "valid points™ raised

by Judge Cole in his dissenting opinion in Van Hook wv.

Anderson, 488 F.3d 411, 428 (6th Cir. 2007}, points with which

7 ¢f the 1% judges of the Court of Appeals for the 3Sixth

Circuilt agreed. See also Van Hook, 488 F.3d at 437
{(Merritt, J., dissenting) (Joined by five judges); and Van
Hook, 488 F.3d at 440 (Martin, J., dissenting). I therefore

respectfully dissent.
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